IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Workers' Compensation Commission

**Aug 15 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No. 2024-000734  
Commission File No. 2218722

Marcelina Santibanez, Claimant.....Respondent,

v.

Operational Resources, Inc., Employer, and Old Republic Insurance Company,  
Carrier.....Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Benjamin M. Renfrow  
Laura C. Tesh  
Willson, Jones, Carter & Baxley  
325 Rocky Slope Road, Suite 201  
Greenville, South Carolina 29607  
(864)527-3296  
[bmrenfrow@wjcblaw.com](mailto:bmrenfrow@wjcblaw.com)

Attorneys for Appellants

##

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. In a workers' compensation claim involving a complex medical issue, the statute and South Carolina case law require medical testimony to support a finding that an injury is causally related to an accident.
2. Claimant is not credible where surveillance shows her walking without limp, difficulty, or assistive device.
3. The Commission's order is inconsistent in finding no aggravation but ordering Defendants to pay causally related medical care.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The First Report of Injury states that Claimant slipped and fell on her left knee on water on the floor at 2:40 p.m. R.1. Claimant's Form 50 alleges that Claimant fell on both knees. R.7. At the hearing before the single Commissioner, Claimant went forward on the issue of compensability of the left leg but asserted the right leg as an affected body part. R.157. Defendants provided initial medical care to Occupational Health and an Xray and an MRI but did not pay Temporary Total Disability (TTD). R.159-60. The claim was denied after investigation. Defendants asserted that Claimant was unable to meet her burden of proof that it was a causally related and thus compensable claim. R.160-61. Defendants also asserted that this was a medically complex case due to the pre-existing, chronic findings and lack of acute finding on the MRI. Thus, a medical opinion from a qualified physician would be required linking the medically complex issues to a compensable work injury. R.161. Defendants requested that the Commission rule on all body parts. R.161. Defendants take the position that a family doctor providing unauthorized treatment cannot be a qualified physician to opine to causation, as they do not practice within workers' compensation. R.161. Defendants also asserted credibility as a major issue in this case, as Claimant's case for compensability rested entirely on her subjectively reported complaints. R.161-

62. Defendants advised that Employer continued to pay Claimant's salary through the end of December 2022. R.162.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

This fall was unwitnessed. In her deposition, Claimant says there were several witnesses. But at the hearing, no one except Claimant was present to testify to the fall. On her first report of injury, under witnesses, she put "None." R.1,96,189,201. At the site visit, no one came forward as a witness. R.203.

On December 5, 2022, Claimant saw Occupational Health at 5:52 p.m. and stated that she slipped on a wet floor and slid forward with her left knee, striking an open door, and fell to the ground. R.21-22. She claimed left knee joint and muscle pain with weightbearing and bending, swelling, and weakness, but denied underlying knee problems. On exam, Occupational Health noted pain increased with weightbearing, as would be expected from a knee bruise. However, she was able to bear weight after an Ace wrap and knee brace with a cane for support. She was very hesitant with the exam initially due to pain, but had better range of motion by the end of visit. All objective tests were negative, and Occupational Health deemed no additional work-up was required. They diagnosed a left knee contusion. R.21-24. They imposed restrictions of sedentary work only with minimal walking. They said she needed to wear a left knee brace and use a cane when walking, both at work and home. R.24.

Claimant's left knee Xray showed "no acute abnormality." Zero. It showed only chronic arthrosis, a precursor to arthritis that is known to cause knee pain.

No acute fracture or dislocation identified. Alignment is normal. Minimal medial femorotibial compartmental osteoarthrosis with subchondral sclerosis. No osseous erosion or focal periosteal reaction. No focal soft tissue abnormality. No radiopaque foreign bodies are seen.

R.27. On December 6, 2022, she went to the ER for “worsening pain” and said she landed directly on the front of her left knee. The hinged knee brace was positioned over her lower leg mostly, not her knee as intended. She was placed in a knee immobilizer, and put on Ibuprofen 800 mg. They could not examine her due to subjective pain complaints. They gave her no restrictions. The ER referred her to orthopedics. R.69,72,75. A week later, on December 12, 2022, Claimant returned to Occupational Health. She had stopped wearing the knee immobilizer a few days ago due to inability to walk on it and discomfort and had gone back to the hinged knee brace and ace wrap. Her knee pain was improved but still significant, up to a 8 or 9 out of 10 with walking and flexing along the front and back of the knee. She claimed she noticed buckling and “snapping” of the knee and was using the cane when walking. R.28. Occupational Health observed that Claimant was using a cane while walking but only minimally every few steps. She walked slowly with a limp, which is very easy to fake. R.30. Occupational Health continued restrictions of using a cane while walking and a left knee brace, both at work and home. R.31. They recommended an MRI of the left knee. R.31.

On December 27, 2022, almost a month after the slip and fall, the MRI showed:

Medial Compartment: Mild mucoid degeneration of the medial meniscus which is normal in size and configuration. Thinning of the weightbearing cartilage of the medial femoral condyle. Intact MCL.

Lateral Compartment: Normal size, signal, and configuration of the lateral meniscus. Normal cartilage of the lateral joint. Intact lateral joint line support structures.

Intercondylar Notch: No ACL or PCL transection. Mild thickening and T2 hyperintensity of the proximal half of the PCL may indicate sequelae of strain- age indeterminate. Moderate T2 hyperintensity within the intercondylar notch.

Anterior Compartment: Prepatellar soft tissue contusion. No patellar fracture. Mild distal quadriceps tendinosis. Cartilage loss of the patellar apex almost to the basal plate. Patella projects normally over the trochlear groove.

Other: Small knee joint effusion.

Impression: Probable acute findings which are superimposed on chronic findings. Prepatellar dermal fat contusion. Grade 3 patellar apex chondromalacia. Thinning of the cartilage of the weightbearing medial femoral condyle. No meniscal tear.

(Emphasis added.) R.36-37. To translate, she had a knee strain along her PCL and a soft tissue bruise. She does have cartilage loss (which causes arthritis), cartilage thinning, and degeneration of the meniscus, all chronic conditions, which almost surely cause daily pain and which she almost surely wants fixed. However, those are not caused by a fall. Those are minor issues at best.

On January 5, 2023, Claimant returned to Occupational Health and stated she was still having the same pain. Her exam was within normal limits objectively. Doctors noted that the only acute finding on the left knee MRI was an anterior prepatellar contusion, which was reassuring. They recommended that she discontinue her walking cane, as her gait was within normal limits without it. She was told to maintain her work modifications and take 10-minute breaks every 2 hours. They recommended physical therapy. R.41,43,44,46,159. Thereafter, Claimant continued to treat with her primary care physician (PCP), who was not an authorized treating physician. On January 19, 2023, she continued to complain of left knee pain. She said she was told not to come back to work and believed she had been fired. She stated it was now hard for her to go up and down stairs. R.50. They advised that she continue her knee brace and referred her to physical therapy. R.51. On February 7, 2023, Claimant returned

to discuss her left knee pain. States this was a work injury and she has been evaluated by her employers physician. States she was told that there is nothing wrong with her knee and that she should be able to get back to work. She has a lawyer and was told that she should get a separate opinion.

R.59. Even though it was just a few weeks earlier, she was unsure if she had ever had an MRI.

“She was found to have mild patellofemoral thickening and bruising of the patellar fat pad. MRI was personally reviewed by myself. Patient explains that she landed directly on her left knee during

a fall.” R.59. At the hearing, Claimant testified that she fell right on the bone of the left knee. R.167. Yet during her deposition and on her Form 50, Claimant alleges injury to both knees and says she landed on both knees. R.1,233. Jarrell NeSmith, DO, opined, “You have mild arthritis in the knee. I believe that your pain from the fall exacerbated the arthritis.” R.60. On March 21, 2023, over three months later, Claimant now wanted her PCP to write her completely out of work and say she was disabled. He refused.

She feels like now she has bone against bone in her knees. The patient says, “I fell down in my job. I slipped and I hit my knees. I have been having a lot of pain when I walk and I hear a noise.” She has swelling of her feet with walking and at times feels like the knee is going to give way. Her pain is 10/10. Tylenol is not helping. She asked me above [sic] letter saying that she is disabled and cannot work. I informed her that she would need to do that through her job through Workmen’s Comp. saying that she was injured on the job and also that we do not do disability here.

R.64. This doctor, by his own admission, is not familiar with ratings and the workers’ compensation system. He prescribed Gabapentin and referred her to orthopedic surgery. R.65.

On January 27, 2023, Claimant presented to physical therapy (PT). She told PT that “she fell onto both knees, but her left knee is the only one that got injured.” She told PT “she has not had any imaging as of yet.” For the first time, she complained of “frequent clicking, crunching, and grinding,” as well as constant pain and swelling, worse with walking. R.77. She had observable swelling with significant tenderness. R.78. By January 31, 2023, she was doing her exercises at home, reported 7/10 pain, and her knee was feeling a little better. R.85. On February 13, 2023, she had had an injection the week before, and her knee had been more painful. She had intermittent pain and frequent muscle soreness (because that’s how physical therapy works). R.88. On May 2, 2023, Claimant’s PCP injected her knee. R.170. At hearing on May 16, 2023, Claimant testified that her knee pops when she walks a lot. R.173. She stated that she wears support on it so that it does not pop so much. She stated her left knee was still swollen, but she was icing it. R.171,177.

She testified that she was totally compliant with everything the doctors told her to do and never had any prior left knee problems. R.172. She stated that when she walks too much, it gets swollen and hurts and started to pop a lot. R.173. She testified at hearing that during her deposition, she put her left leg up in a chair during the deposition because it was very swollen and she had not been given medicine for it. R.173.

Rachel Beckwith, Employer's representative, testified that Claimant brought paperwork on December 12<sup>th</sup>, just one week after the alleged accident.

I can see her walk out to the vehicle. She walks down the sidewalk. As she gets to the sidewalk, I am getting ready to go into the back. I pause because I see her step down off of the sidewalk. As she does, she takes the cane and puts it under her arm, walks down around the vehicle that she is getting into, does not use the cane again, and gets into her vehicle.

...

So she stepped down on the driver's side of the vehicle, cane under her arm, walked. She didn't put her hand along the side for assistance of her car. She walked all the way around it unassisted, no limp.... She walked unassisted with no cane around, opened up her door, and got into her vehicle.... She was using a cane until she got to the end of the sidewalk, put it under her arm, stepped down without the cane, walked around it and got in her vehicle.

...

Her medical records that day that she brought me stated that she's to use the cane doing all walking....

R.199,207-09. Rachel Beckwith testified that Claimant's witnessed behavior was consistent with the surveillance of walking normally with no cane or support. R.200.

Based on what Rachel Beckwith witnessed, Defendants conducted surveillance on December 16, 2022, just eleven days after Claimant's fall. Claimant walked down an embankment, up a hill, walked back up the drive, and back to the car—all with no issues. She went to the Spartanburg County Tax Office and walked across a parking lot and then up two flights of steps in the center, not using the handrails. She went back home, up and down the front steps with a small dog, and then to take out trash. Recall that she had been placed in a knee immobilizer at the ER and

then was using a hinged knee brace and Ace wrap reporting 8-9/10 pain. She did not have any assistive device, nor did she walk with a limp or in a guarded manner. She was wearing leggings, and any brace or Ace wrap would have been obvious. Video showed she walked seemingly without any problems. R.152-54. Claimant stated she did so because the elevator wasn't working. R.175-76. That wasn't the point. Claimant does what she wants to do when she wants to do it with no apparent injury, and then goes to her doctor and asks to be written out of work because she's disabled, which her doctor declined to do. That is what this case is about: medical causation and Claimant's credibility.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because this appeal presents a question of law and a question of fact, this Court has a bifurcated standard of review. The Court's interpretation of a statute to determine exactly what a claimant is required to prove is a pure question of law. The appellate courts may interpret statutes without any deference to the court below. *Brooks v. Benore Logistics System, Inc.*, 442 S.C. 462, 476, 900 S.E.2d 436, \_\_ (2024). Indeed, that is the express job of the appellate courts. Whether the Full Commission correctly determined the facts is subject to the substantial evidence standard of review. Under that standard, this Court may not substitute its judgment for the Commission's as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse a decision affected by an error of law or where it is clearly erroneous in view of substantial evidence on the record as a whole. *Id.* "Substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached or must have reached in order to justify its action." *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Complex causation requires medical testimony to support a finding that an injury is causally related to an accident.**

Claimant bears the burden of proof to bring her injury within the Act.

We have held in numerous cases and it is now well established that a claimant, who asserts the right to compensation, must establish by the preponderance of the evidence the facts which will entitle her to an award under the Workmen's Compensation Act, and such award must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation.

*Lorick v. S.C. Elec. & Gas Co.*, 245 S.C. 513, 141 S.E.2d 662 (1965) (citations omitted). *See also Frampton v. S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 432 S.C. 247, 851 S.E.2d 714 (Ct. App. 2020). Moreover, although the Act is construed liberally in accord with its purpose, "a claimant must establish by the preponderance of the evidence the facts which will entitle him to an award; the burden of proof is upon him. He cannot prevail by the resolution of doubts." *Cross v. Concrete Materials*, 236 S.C. 440, 446, 114 S.E.2d 828, 831 (1960). Quoting 100 C.J.S., *Workmen's Compensation*, § 547(7), p.602-03, the court held that the better rule is:

Under other authority, the rule of liberal construction of the compensation acts in favor of the employee, ...does not dispense with the necessity of evidence to support the award, or of making proof prerequisite to recovery, does not permit a court to award compensation where the requisite proof is lacking, and does not make the rule as to the measure of proof or the sufficiency of evidence different from the rule in ordinary cases or in other civil suits, so that, despite such liberality, the facts relied on must be proved with the same certainty as in other civil cases. So, the rule of liberal construction has been held not to apply to the evidence offered, or required, to establish the claim, or to the function of the commission in hearing evidence or in resolving conflicts in the testimony, and does not operate to distort the proofs or to make the facts other than as they are. A liberal construction of the evidence cannot be substituted for failure of proof of any essential element of the claim; and the preponderance of evidence rule has been held not to require, as a matter of law, that doubts arising from the evidence be resolved in favor of one party or the other.

*Cross v. Concrete Materials*, 236 S.C. 440, 446-47, 114 S.E.2d 828, 831-32 (1960).

“An injury arises out of employment if it is proximately caused by the employment.” *Turner v. SAIIA Constr.*, 419 S.C. 98, 105, 796 S.E.2d 150, 154 (Ct. App. 2016). Causation must be proven for an injury to arise out of employment and bring it within the Act. A doctor’s opinion as to causation is required. “In medically complex cases, an employee shall establish by medical evidence that the injury arose in the course of employment.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(E). This is a medically complex case.

In *Anderson v. Campbell Tire Co.*, 202 S.C. 54, 24 S.E.2d 104, we said:

“...where the subject is one for experts or skilled witnesses alone and concerns a matter of science or specialized art or other matters of which a layman can have no knowledge, the unanimous opinion of medical experts on particular subjects may be conclusive, even if contradicted by lay witnesses....” ...

Larson in his treatise on Workmen’s Compensation Law, Vol. II, Section 79.54, page 304, asserts that reliance on lay testimony is not justified when the medical question is a complicated one and likely to carry the fact finding body into realms which are more properly within the province of medical experts. We quote therefrom the following:

“The increasing tendency to accept awards unsupported by medical testimony should not be allowed to obscure the basic necessity of establishing medical causation by expert testimony in all but simple and routine cases—and even in these cases such evidence is highly desirable and is a part of any well prepared presentation.” *Wynn v. Peoples Natural Gas Co.*, 238 S.C. 1, 118 S.E.2d 812, and *Dennis v. Williams Furniture Corp.*, 243 S.C. 53, 132 S.E.2d 1.

The court held in *Lorick* that the Commission “could not make a determination of causal connection ... independent of supporting medical testimony where the assessment of the precipitating cause requires expert knowledge....” *Id.* at 527, 141 S.E.2d at 669. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(E) clearly states: “As used in this section, ‘medical evidence’ means expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, records, or other material that is offered by a licensed health care provider.” (Emphasis added.) S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-60 similarly provides:

The employer shall provide medical, surgical, hospital, and other treatment, including medical and surgical supplies as reasonably may be required, for a period not exceeding ten weeks from the date of an injury, to effect a cure or give relief and for an additional time as in the judgment of the commission will tend to lessen the period of disability as evidenced by expert medical evidence stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty.

(Emphasis added.) Where the Commission’s decision to order medical treatment beyond the ten weeks is unsupported by expert medical evidence, it is an error of law and must be reversed. *See Hartzell v. Palmetto Collision, LLC*, 419 S.C. 87, 97, 796 S.E.2d 145, 150 (Ct. App. 2016).

Where one relies upon medical testimony alone to show a causal connection between an injury and a subsequent condition, the testimony must meet the “most probably” rule, and it is not sufficient that the malady in question “possibly” or “could have” or “might have” resulted from the injury.

*Gambrell v. Burleson*, 252 S.C. 98, 165 S.E.2d 622 (1969).

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