RECEIVED

Sep 17 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No. 2024-000734

Marcelina Santibanez, Claimant,

Respondent,

vs.

Operational Resources, Inc., Employer
and Old Republic Insurance Company, Carrier,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

W. Grady Jordan
SMITH JORDAN, P.A.
P.O. Box 1207
Easley, SC 29641
(864) 855-1661
Attorney for Respondent

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE APPELLATE PANEL DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT RESPONDENT SUFFERED AN INJURY BY ACCIDENT.

Before going into detail in this Argument on the law and its application to the facts, Respondent wants to point out that in Appellants' Final Brief, they admit an acute injury to Respondent's left knee and assert that they provided, in their opinion, the requisite medical care. As this is indeed unusual in an appeal of a case on the grounds of compensability, Respondent would like to show the Court the following excerpts from Appellants' Brief.

“Here, Claimant slipped and fell on her left knee, bruising it (Final Brief of Appellants, p. 14).” “We are now a year and a half post-accident – a fall that caused only a knee bruise and mild PCL strain, according to both the treating doctors and the MRI. Employer provided initial medical treatment under Workers' compensation. No additional treatment is warranted for a knee bruise and ligament strain a year and a half later (Final Brief of Appellants, p. 24).”

Why are Appellants appealing an order of the Appellate Panel, which found an injury by accident to Respondent's left knee, when in their Brief to this Court they acknowledge same? Respondent would therefore ask this Court to affirm the Order of the Appellate Panel based on Appellant's admissions in their Brief under the Rule 220 (b)(1), SCACR. Appellants go on to argue in their Brief as to a lack of proof of an aggravation of a pre-existing condition. Respondent did not claim an aggravation of a preexisting condition. The Appellate Panel did not find an aggravation of a preexisting condition. It found there was not significant evidence to find one way or the other on that issue. Appellants are trying to require Respondent to prove an aggravation of

a preexisting condition in an acute injury case. They are arguing for a reversal of a non-finding as to an aggravation, while admitting Respondent had an acute injury to her knee, which was the true basis of the finding of compensability in this claim. Appellants' argument, in its entirety, is manifestly without merit.

Now, a discussion as to the law and facts of this case.

“In order to be entitled to workers' compensation benefits, the employee must show he or she sustained an ‘injury by accident arising out of and in the course of the employment.’ S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160 (1985). The term ‘arising out of’ in the Workers' Compensation Act refers to the origin of the cause of the accident, while the term ‘in the course of’ refers to the time, place, and circumstances under which the accident occurred. *Bickley v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Co.*, 259 S.C. 463, 192 S.E.2d 866 (1972). An injury arises out of employment when there is apparent to the rational mind, upon consideration of all the circumstances, a causal relationship between the conditions under which the work is to be performed and the resulting injury. *Carter v. Penney Tire and Recapping Co.*, 261 S.C. 341, 200 S.E.2d 64 (1973).” Owings v. Anderson County Sheriff's Dept., 315 S.C. 297, 299, 433 S.E.2d. 869, 871 (1993).

The pertinent law governing cases involving preexisting conditions is set out in §42-9-35 of the South Carolina Code of Laws which is entitled, “Evidence of preexisting injury or condition.” It states in part:

(A) The Employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that:

- (1) The subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or
- (2) the preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury.

(B) The commission may award compensation benefits to an employee who has a permanent physical impairment or preexisting condition and who incurs a subsequent

disability from an injury arising out of and in the course of his employment for the resulting disability of the permanent physical impairment or preexisting condition and the subsequent injury.

(C) As used in this section, “medical evidence” means medical expert opinion or testimony stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, documents, record, or other material that is offered by a licensed health care provider.

The law as to “medically complex cases” is found in §42-1-160(E) of the South Carolina Code of Laws which states:

(E) In medically complex cases, an employee shall establish by medical evidence that the injury arose in the course of employment. For purposes of this subsection, “medically complex cases” means sophisticated cases requiring highly scientific procedures or techniques for diagnosis or treatment excluding MRIs, CAT scans, x-rays, or other similar diagnostic techniques.

It appears that Appellants are confusing a case with a potential preexisting condition with a “medically complex case.” The undersigned cannot find anything in the facts of this case that puts it in the category of a “medically complex case” and no argument in Appellants’ Brief links this case to the requisite statute. Appellants rely on X-Rays and MRI of the left knee in the appeal. Those type imagery are “excluded” from medically complex cases which instead require, “highly scientific procedures or technical for diagnosis or treatment excluding (emphasis added) MRIs, CAT scans, x-rays, or other similar diagnostic techniques.”

Finding #20 of the Order of the Appellate Panel is what Appellants actually complain of in this appeal. It reads as follows:

Upon review of the records as a whole, specifically the diagnostic tests (x-ray and MRI), I find that the Respondent did have a compensable injury to her left knee as evidenced by the bruising and swelling. Appellants are responsible for occupational health, Spartanburg Medical Center ER and MRI treatment to date. Respondent has not reached MMI and Appellants are ordered to provide additional treatment with an ortho of their choice. Since the employer did not provide the Respondent with light duty work, the Appellants are ordered to pay TTD benefits from the dated of the accident and on-going. I find that there is insufficient evidence to determine whether the aggravation of the Respondent’s underlying osteoarthritis is compensable or not. This finding of fact is based upon the greater weight of the

evidence (R. pp. 347-348).

Appellants cite the case of Frampton v. S.C. Dep't of Nat. Res., 432 S.C. 247, 851 S.E.2d 714 (Ct. App. 2020) as the “leading case” on §42-9-35 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. Appellants state, “The court therefore held that the injury was not causally related to the work incident but was part of a long-term ongoing course of treatment for his progressive degenerative disc disease, which had begun years prior and was consistent with claimant’s testimony that he told his doctor his symptoms began gradually over a number of years (Final Brief of Appellants, p. 12).” This is not our case, as there is no prior “long-term ongoing course of treatment” for the knee. The knee symptoms did not begin, “gradually over a number of years.”

In Frampton, Chisolm Frampton, a DNR officer, claimed that on September 2, 2020, he “experienced neck pain and stiffness after riding in a pickup truck across a bumpy dove field he and another DNR officer were inspecting.” Id., at 251, 716. Mr. Frampton had already been treating with a neurosurgeon, Byron Bailey, M.D., prior to the alleged accident of September 2, 2020. The Court found Frampton’s claim was not compensable and the following discussion of the court in Frampton sums it up very succinctly. The Court stated,

None of Dr. Bailey's medical records mention the dove-field incident. This, taken with the fact that Frampton had already seen Dr. Bailey at least six months before the incident for the same injury, is substantial evidence supporting the appellate panel's conclusion that Frampton's treatment with Dr. Bailey, including his surgery, was not causally related to the dove-field incident but was part of a long-term, ongoing course of treatment for Frampton's progressive, degenerative, disc disease, which had begun years prior. This conclusion is consistent with Frampton's own testimony before the single commissioner that he told Dr. Bailey his symptoms began gradually over a number of years and with Dr. Bailey's notes from the March 2010 visit in which he stated Frampton had a history of cervical radiculopathy. Id. at 263, 722 -723.

The case at hand differs from Frampton in that Respondent had an acute injury to her left knee when she fell at work and further, she was not receiving medical treatment for the knee prior

to the work injury. Respondent did not tell her doctor that her symptoms began gradually over a number of years.

Appellants argue that this case is similar not only to Frampton, but also to Dennis v. Williams Furniture Corp., 243 S.C. 53, 132 S.E.2d 1 (1963) and Cross v. Concrete Materials, 236 S.C. 440, 114 S.E.2d 828 (1960) stating that Respondent had a preexisting condition in the knee and she has provided no medical evidence that the preexisting condition was aggravated by the work accident.

Dennis involved a question as to an aggravation of a preexisting injury and a potential acute injury. In Dennis the Court found,

Aside from the medical evidence, there is nothing to support a finding of causal connection except the testimony of the claimant himself to the effect that he hurt his back on the night of August 12. However, his testimony was further to the effect that his back had been hurting him since March 1959; that he was unable to do anything but light work, and that his back was hurting him too bad to undertake the work which he attempted to do on August 11 and 12, 1960. This lay testimony on the part of the claimant is quite similar to the lay evidence in the Cross case, above cited, where the claimant contended that his pre-existing osteo-arthritis was aggravated by accidental means. His claim in this respect being unsupported by medical evidence which complied with the rule above quoted, this court held such lay evidence to be insufficient to support a finding of causal connection. Id. at 59 - 60, 4.

The Dennis case was one in which the Claimant was trying to prove an aggravation of a preexisting condition. That is not our case. The Court in Dennis involved two claims of injury, one on March 4, 1959 and one on August 12, 1960. The Court in Dennis found that the 1959 claim was barred by the statute.

The questions raised on appeal are several, but, in our view, it is necessary to decide only one question. Any claim for injuries sustained in the accident of March 4, 1959 is clearly barred by the statute. We find it unnecessary to decide whether the evidence is sufficient to support a finding of fact by the Commission that the claimant sustained an injury, or aggravation thereof, by accident in the course of his employment in July 1960, (actually August 12th), even if the Commission had

so specifically found. The key question, and we think the only one necessary to decide, is whether there is any competent evidence to support a finding of fact that the present back disability of the claimant is causally connected with any accident which may have occurred August 12, 1960.

Id., at. 57, 3.

As to the alleged aggravation of a preexisting injury the Court in Dennis found:

Aside from the medical evidence, there is nothing to support a finding of causal connection except the testimony of the claimant himself to the effect that he hurt his back on the night of August 12. However, his testimony was further to the effect that his back had been hurting him since March 1959; that he was unable to do anything but light work, and that his back was hurting him too bad to undertake the work which he attempted to do on August 11 and 12, 1960. This lay testimony on the part of the claimant is quite similar to the lay evidence in the Cross case, above cited, where the claimant contended that his pre-existing osteo-arthritis was aggravated by accidental means. His claim in this respect being unsupported by medical evidence which complied with the rule above quoted, this court held such lay evidence to be insufficient to support a finding of causal connection.

Id., at 59, 60, 5.

To reiterate, Respondent did not claim an aggravation of a preexisting injury.

The evidence shows that Respondent suffered an acute injury to her left knee on December 5, 2022, while at work, which Appellants admit in their Brief. Firstly, an incident report dated December 5, 2022, was accomplished by the Appellant Employer documenting the accident and the fact that Respondent fell and landed on her left knee on the floor (R. pp. 95-96). The report states, "There was water on the floor in front of a door she was trying to open. When she pulled on the door, it was stuck, and she had to pull a little harder than normal. When she did that, she slipped and landed on her left knee in the floor. She said her knee was sore and she struggled to put much weight on it (R. p. 96)."

Secondly, Respondent complained to the company's doctor on the same day of joint pain, muscle pain and swelling. Respondent was diagnosed with "Contusion of left knee" (R. p. 16). It was noted that Respondent had "Bruising and redness" of her left knee (R. p. 22).

Thirdly, Respondent, in the Emergency Department of Spartanburg Medical Center, on December 6, 2022, had a small bruise on the anterior aspect of the knee and a small effusion on the knee (R. p. 71). She also had tenderness to palpation of the medial and lateral joint lines and patella (R. p. 71).

In Cross, the claim was about an acute injury to Mr. Cross' face and teeth, as well as another claim of an aggravation of a pre-existing hip condition. The Court stated,

Claimant was struck in the face by the crank of a starting engine on the back of a crane. He suffered injuries to his face and teeth but he missed no time from work and the employer paid the medical and dental expenses. At the time and until some days afterward he did not mention the fall from the platform on which he stood, or any injury to his hip. The latter is the basis of the present claim.

Id. at 442, 829.

In Cross, the expert called on Claimant's behalf as to the hip condition would not state with a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the preexisting osteoarthritis hip condition was "most probably" aggravated by the fall at work. Therefore, the case, as to the aggravation of the preexisting hip condition, was found not compensable due to lack of evidence as to causation. The Court stated,

It is inescapable that the opinion of the witness, as first and finally expressed by him, is that the causal connection here is possible but he was unwilling to opine that it is 'most probable.' That is the fair appraisal of his testimony. Therefore, the evidence was insufficient to sustain the finding of causal connection, for which the judgment will have to be reversed and the award set aside.

Id. at 443, 830.

In Cross the Claimant did have an acute injury to the face and teeth, which was compensable. The other issue in Cross was as to the aggravation of the preexisting hip condition. In our case, we have claimed an acute injury to Respondent's left knee, which is supported by the evidence, and even admitted in Appellants' Brief. "Here, Claimant slipped and fell on her left knee, bruising it (Appellants' Final Brief, p. 14). "We are now a year and a half post-accident – a

fall that caused only a knee bruise and mild PCL strain, according to both the treating doctors and the MRI. Employer provided initial medical treatment under Workers' compensation. No additional treatment is warranted for a knee bruise and ligament strain a year and a half later (Final Brief of Appellants, p. 24)." Respondent is not claiming, at this point in the case, an aggravation of a preexisting condition. Respondent has not received sufficient medical care and evaluation to make that claim, if it exists.

Appellants reference the MRI as support for their position(s) stating, "Here, Claimant's MRI was 'very reassuring' with only chronic degenerative arthritic changes (Final Brief of Appellants, p. 13). However, this is a misrepresentation of the findings of the MRI as Appellants fail to mention the acute findings in the MRI report. Pertinent portions of the MRI findings state: "Intercondylar notch: No ACL or PCL transection. **Mild thickening and T2 hyperintensity of the proximal half of the PCL may indicate sequelae of strain – age indeterminate (emphasis added)**. Moderate T2 hyperintensity within the intercondylar notch." "Anterior Compartment: **Prepatellar soft tissue contusion (emphasis added)**. No patellar fracture. Mild distal quadriceps tendinosis. Cartilage loss of the patellar apex almost to the basal plate. Patella projects normally over the trochlear groove." "Other: **Small Knee Joint effusion (emphasis added)**." (R. p. 36)

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